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Street & number: 1207 Bay Street
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Places and meets the procedural and professional requirements set forth in 36 CFR Part 60.
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level(s) of significance:

___hational ___statewide X _local
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_A XB XC _D
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Title : State or Federal agency/bureau
or Tribal Government

4. National Park Service Certification

| hereby certify that this property is:

__entered in the National Register

__determined eligible for the National Register
__determined not eligible for the National Register
___removed from the National Register

___other (explain:)

Signature of the Keeper Date of Action

5. Classification
Ownership of Property

(Check as many boxes as apply.)
Private: %

Public — Local

Public — State

Public — Federal

Category of Property
(Check only one box.)

Building(s) X

District
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Site

Structure

Object

Number of Resources within Property
(Do not include previously listed resources in the count)

Contributing Noncontributing
buildings
2 sites
structures
objects
Total
Number of contributing resources previously listed in the National Register 1

6. Function or Use

Historic Functions

(Enter categories from instructions.)
DOMESTIC/single dwelling
DOMESTIC/privies

Current Functions
(Enter categories from instructions.)
DOMESTIC/single dwelling
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7. Description

Architectural Classification
(Enter categories from instructions.)
EARLY REPUBLIC/Federal
OTHER/Beaufort Style
EARLY TWENTIETH CENTURY REVIVAL/Neoclassical Revival

Materials: (enter categories from instructions.)
Principal exterior materials of the property: _ Foundation: STUCCO/BRICK; Walls:
WOOD/weatherboard; Roof: Metal

Narrative Description

(Describe the historic and current physical appearance and condition of the property. Describe
contributing and noncontributing resources if applicable. Begin with a summary paragraph that
briefly describes the general characteristics of the property, such as its location, type, style,
method of construction, setting, size, and significant features. Indicate whether the property has
historic integrity.)

Summary Paragraph

1207 Bay Street is a two story wood frame house on a full masonry arcaded raised basement
with a stucco render. The house has original nine over nine windows and clapboard wooden
siding. It is a double pile house and has a central hall plan, with large rectangular rooms flanking
the central stair hall on each floor. There are five bays of fenestration on the south fagcade and
two window bays on the side elevations. The house is Federal style with a hipped roof, with
deferring rear and side additions that are wood frame and clad in wood weatherboards. The
house features a two story Neoclassical Revival front porch with monumental columns, added in
the late nineteenth century. The lot fronts on Bay Street and the original 1790 property
boundaries are intact and span from Bay Street a full block to North Street, covering 1.25 acres.
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Narrative Description

Exterior:

1207 Bay Street is a timber framed house built out of local cypress, atop a full story arcaded
brick raised basement. The framing system is comprised of ten inch thick hand-hewn timber
joists, resting atop a fifteen inch thick summer beam.

The south/front fagade features a two story porch supported by six symmetrically spaced
monumental Tuscan columns. The porch is accessed by an original double staircase constructed
of brick rendered in stucco, with a large Roman relieving arch below to allow access to the
arcaded raised basement. The balustrades on the first and second story porch are comprised of
square railings with a simple, unmolded handrail. The porch roofline features a wide cornice
with simple Neoclassical moldings.

The second story of the porch and the monumental columns were added during George Gage’s
ownership (1872-1904) and reflect the Colonial/Neoclassical Revival tastes of the late nineteenth
century. Previously, a one story porch ran the length of the front facade. It featured square
balusters similar to those currently on the house, and six evenly spaced Tuscan columns
supported the hipped porch roof, which engaged with the front elevation just below the sills of
the second story windows. Prior to the addition of the second story porch, the front facade
featured a reverse central gable that spanned the central three window bays and tied back into the
gable roof. It had a dentiled full return cornice and an elliptical fanlight in the gable end. The
reverse gable was removed when the second story porch was added, and the central second story
window was replaced with a door with a three light transom to allow access to the second story
porch.

The house retains original windows, exterior details, symmetrical fenestration, scale, and
massing which reflect the Adams stylistic preferences of the Federal era in the United States. The
south facade has five symmetrically placed bays of fenestration on each story, with a central door
flanked by two windows on each side. The windows are double hung, nine over nine pane wood
sash windows typical of the late eighteenth century, with several surviving original panes. The
windows are fitted with operable louvered shutters with traditional hardware. The front six-panel
wooden entry door features a simple five pane fanlight and a Neoclassical frontispiece and
original hinges and lockset. The second story central door, which opens onto the upper porch,

has a three pane simple transom with square lights. There are two original symmetrical chimneys
which pierce the hipped roof and are visible from the rear/north elevation. They are traditional
masonry, constructed of locally made bricks.

The north/rear elevation features a reverse gable with dentil molding and a full return cornice to
articulate the central bay or room that opens from the end of the central stair hall. There is a
Palladian window with intricate rope molding on the second story below the gable, which ties
into the hip roof of the original mass of the house. There are two symmetrically placed nine over
nine windows flanking the articulated central mass with gable.
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The house was originally T-shaped in plan, with a rectangular mass and hipped roof running
parallel to Bay Street, and a rear bay projecting from the hipped roof, in the center of the
north/rear facade, with a reverse gable roof line. The projecting bay features original dentil
molding and cornices and a Palladian window. In its original iteration, the projecting two story
reverse gabled section with Palladian window was flanked by one-story bays; second stories
were added above these rooms in 1885, resulting in a uniform two story central block of the
north/rear elevation today, which is now flanked by a one story addition that projects from the
first floor.

The eastern one-story rear bay is asymmetrical with the western bay, and projects beyond the
central mass of the house. Interestingly, this asymmetrical construction is original to the house
and is a common mode in Beaufort that can also be seen at the neighboring Cuthbert House and
Tabby Manse. Constructing a projecting room in this manner may have been to improve
ventilation, as it would allow for better cross breezes and a view of the riverfront from the rear
parlor of the house.

To the rear of the house is a one story shed roofed addition with an open porch in the center bay,
flanked by a kitchen and a pantry. The roof has standing seam metal cladding. There are three
single pane casement windows on each side of the central porch, which has two freestanding and
two engaged Tuscan columns below the reverse gable bay with Palladian window. There are two
one-bay, one-story rooms on the west elevation of the house, which were probably originally
detached buildings, and which now open into the main residence.

Interior:

There are two rectangular, symmetrical rooms on each side of the central stair hall on the first
and second floor. The stair hall opens into an additional bay on both the first and second story,
flanked by two smaller rooms (or five rooms on each floor.)

The Drawing Room and Dining Room feature paneling of northern white pine. The dining room,
(on the west side of the center hall) has a plain deal mantel painted white and a hand carved
cornice with elaborate tassel molding. Both rooms still contain the original doors, cornices,
mantles, heart pine flooring, and wainscoting. The original newel post and stair rails are made of
mahogany. The stair leads to a smoking room and two bedrooms upstairs. The bedrooms,
hallways and rear rooms of the house were constructed with wainscoting and horsehair plaster
walls. The cornice in both bedrooms was replaced in the early 19" century. These rooms still
have the original doors, mantles, heart pine flooring and wainscoting. The smoking room
(rear/north central bay) retains its original Palladian window, delicate dentil ceiling cornice, heart
pine flooring, and wainscoting. The house has seven original fireplaces, though not all retain
their mantels. The floors are comprised of longleaf heart pine boards of three, five, and seven
inch width. The majority span the length of the room in a single board, indicating early, old
growth materials.

The dining room opening to the west off of the central hall has flat paneled wainscoting with a

chair rail, above which is a field of flat paneling in the dado. There is two-level Neoclassical
crown molding in the room, with a lower band of hand chiseled tassel molding. The six panel
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doors and windows have two level trim with an ogee profile back band that appear to be original.
The fireplace is lined with dark grey marble and features and Adams style mantel with delicate
dentil molding. The mantel is supported by two delicately carved reeded pilasters.

The drawing room (opening to the east off of the first floor central stair hall) contains some of
Beaufort’s most notable woodwork, carved of yellow and white pine.! Flat wood paneling in
Neoclassical rail and stile frameworks runs from the floor to the ceiling, punctuated by a chair
rail comprised of beaded sections alternating with flat sections (in a triglyph and metope rhythm)
with a top band. The Adam style mantel has elaborate swags, draperies, trailing vinery, and
Grecian urns, and a fire box framed by grey veined marble, which are hand carved applique. A
frieze in a delicate and orderly diamond pattern sits below a cornice with carved modillions with
a cavetto profile, between which are small augured recesses. A band of trim atop the cornice
engages with the plaster ceiling.

The first floor central stair hall has painted flat panel wainscoting with a stained mahogany top
band, plaster walls, and heart pine floors. The stairs feature stained pine treads, painted risers,
and original mahogany newel post and handrail, with a swan neck curve at the landing leading to
the second floor. The balustrades are delicate square profile painted pine railings, typical of
American Federal architecture.

The first floor office/northeastern room has six inch wide heart pine floors, flat plaster walls and
ceilings, simple wainscoting with a top band rather than a chair rail, and a low profile crown
molding band. The mantel is less intricate than the dentiled and reeded elements found in the
principal rooms of the house, reflecting the office space as a more private part of the house.

The second floor west bedroom has flat wainscoting and a simple chair rail, original six panel
doors, and an Adams mantel piece with reeded pilasters and dentil molding similar to that found
in the Dining Room. The crown molding features dentils below a flat frieze, which is topped
with an ogee band where the trim engages with the plaster ceiling. The window trim engages
with the dentil molding and the chair rail.

The second floor eastern bedroom has two-level casing, six panel doors, flat wainscoting, and a
dentiled cornice similar to the west bedroom. The reeded pilasters are wider on this mantelpiece
than in the other rooms. The mantelpiece is decorated with carved tassels similar to the dining
room.

The smoking room (in the northern central bay on the second story) is accessed by two steps
leading from the stair hall landing. The rectangular room has flat wainscoting with a wide
baseboard and four panel door, both probably late nineteenth or early twentieth century. The
crown molding sits atop a wide, flat back band. The Palladian window features reeded pilasters
as mullions.

1 Mary Kendall Hilton, Old Homes & Churches of Beaufort County, 72.
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The study on the western rear of the second story has simple two level trim, narrow crown
molding, and flat wainscoting similar to that found in the northeastern room/ office on the first
floor.

The basement is accessed via a stair descending from the central stair hall of the first floor and
by a glazed door opening into the arcaded supports of the front porch. The basement walls are
constructed of local brick laid in American common bond. The interior does not have a stucco
render. Relieving arches for the upstairs fireplaces are visible. The basement originally had a
brick floor over packed earth, which was excavated during the 2017 renovations, allowing for
archeological analysis of the cisterns located below the house (addressed further in the “potential
for archeology” section of this report.) The raised basement now has polished concrete floors,
approximately one foot lower than the original packed earth floor; the height differential is
visible at the base of the brick walls and support piers, there the brick courses corbel outward at
the base as part of the foundation.? The first floor joist system is exposed in the raised basement,
and hand hewing marks are clearly visible.

Alterations: Additions have been made on the rear of the house, constructed incrementally to
provide additional living space and indoor modern amenities such as kitchens and bathrooms. All
of the additions defer to the original dwelling in height, scale, and mass and do not alter the
fenestration on the principal facades of the house.

By 1885, second story additions had been added atop the original one story rooms flanking the
Palladian central mass on the north facade. Owner George Gage wrote to Niagara Insurance
Company that he “was now building a room on the northeast corner of [the house], that is,
building a second story to the one story room that was there, the old room had a shingle roof and
the new room has a tin roof, making it safer I think.”® The additions have a shed roofline that ties
into the main house below the cornice line, and are not visible from the street. A detached rear
unit on the west facade was connected to the main residence via the pre-1899 additions.*

The two projecting west rooms are one story wood frame units, supported by brick piers. They
have gable roofs running parallel to the ridgeline of the house. All of the additions, with
exception of the one story rear porch, were constructed by 1899, when they appear on a Sanborn
Fire Insurance Map. The one story rear most addition has a tall masonry chimney, indicating its
use as a kitchen or laundry space. The original rooflines of the main house (except for a reverse
gable on the front elevation, which was removed to construct the second story porch) and kitchen
house, and the those of the lower pitched rear additions, are visible in an aerial Google Earth
view of the house. George Gage also constructed the two story colonnaded front porch to replace
the earlier Federal era one story porch.

In 2016-2018, the house was renovated and restored, including new mechanical, electrical and

2 The flared base of the basement walls and piers, which would have been below grade originally, are visible in
images 8 and 9.

3 Gage Papers, Box 2, Letter of A. Wilcox and Son/Niagara Insurance, 31 May 1885. Gage did not mention the
second story porch in his letter.

41899 Sanborn Fire Insurance Map.
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plumbing systems added in a minimally invasive way. The ground level was excavated 18”
discovering an existing cistern. It has been left exposed to allow for potential further archeology
or study.

As the first floor was restored, an existing hidden fireplace was uncovered behind a twentieth
century partition wall. The mantel had been removed in an earlier renovation, so the original
brickwork, wooden lintel, and jack arch were left exposed and the fireplace is now incorporated
into a sitting room which is adjacent to a new kitchen space. An added bedroom (which had been
created with a twentieth century partition wall of nominal dimensional lumber) was removed as
well. With the removal of other modern partition walls there is an open floor plan in part of the
back bay of the house; the original exterior wall and nine over nine windows are intact on the
western portion of the rear. A section of a rear exterior wall had been removed in the mid
twentieth century (shown in figure 12, HABS photo of the rear of the house) to create the shed
roofed rear addition. This bay formerly had small aluminum windows, which were replaced with
the large single pane casement windows currently in place. A wall was also removed from the
eastern rear projecting bay (which was originally detached) to allow access from the kitchen into
the sitting room area.®

5 Historic American Buildings Survey. The layout of the rear sitting room and kitchen area are shown in
photographs 21, 22, and 23.
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8. Statement of Significance

Applicable National Register Criteria
(Mark "x" in one or more boxes for the criteria qualifying the property for National Register
listing.)

A. Property is associated with events that have made a significant contribution to the
broad patterns of our history.

X B. Property is associated with the lives of persons significant in our past.

« C. Property embodies the distinctive characteristics of a type, period, or method of
construction or represents the work of a master, or possesses high artistic values,
or represents a significant and distinguishable entity whose components lack
individual distinction.

D. Property has yielded, or is likely to yield, information important in prehistory or
history.

Criteria Considerations
(Mark “x” in all the boxes that apply.)

A. Owned by a religious institution or used for religious purposes

B. Removed from its original location

C. Abirthplace or grave

D. A cemetery

E. A reconstructed building, object, or structure

F. A commemorative property

G. Less than 50 years old or achieving significance within the past 50 years
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Areas of Significance

(Enter categories from instructions.)
Architecture
Social History
Politics/Government

Period of Significance
1790
1872-1904

Significant Dates

Significant Person
(Complete only if Criterion B is marked above.)

Gage, George

Cultural Affiliation

Architect/Builder
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Statement of Significance Summary Paragraph (Provide a summary paragraph that includes
level of significance, applicable criteria, justification for the period of significance, and any
applicable criteria considerations.)

The Means-Gage House is significant under Criterion B for Politics/Government and Social
History, for its associations with George Gage and the Reconstruction era in Beaufort. George
Gage made contributions to broader patterns of Beaufort history as a local politician (acting
intendent and warden of Beaufort, and later as town clerk), as a federal civil servant (as Port
Collector and Port Inspector for the Customs House) and as a local businessman (operating both
a lumber mill and working as a land surveyor). For more than thirty years, Gage had his finger
on the pulse of Beaufort politics, business, and economic development, and he served as a link
between the town and the larger context of state and national politics through his connections to
important Republican politicians. Further, he linked Beaufort to the global market through his
role as Port Collector, which he obtained through his political connections to various state and
national level politicians and figures (such as Clara Barton, Thomas E. Miller, and Robert
Smalls). Gage owned and occupied the house from 1872 until his death in 1904, spending his
productive years there. The Means-Gage House is also significant under Criterion C,
Architecture for its Federal era details and for the Neoclassical Revival facade updates made by
Gage. The house’s architecture is indicative of Beaufort’s golden age in the early Republic, when
a small group of elite planters and professionals built stately Adams homes. There are less than
thirty federal era houses remaining in Beaufort. The house features characteristic Federal
architectural traits (symmetry, central hall plan, simple Neoclassical details) but also has features
that are unique to the Beaufort area, namely the T shaped plan with projected reverse gable on
the rear of the house, and the slight asymmetry of the rear bays to capture prevailing breezes.
The interior retains finely carved Adams mantel pieces, paneling, and cornices. Gage installed a
second story to the porch, in keeping with southern Neoclassical Revival tastes of the late
nineteenth century. The house reflects both the original Federal era architectural style and
materials, and Gage’s occupancy.

Narrative Statement of Significance (Provide at least one paragraph for each area of
significance.)

Criterion B: Social History; Politics/Government

Gage was an important figure in Beaufort politics from his arrival in 1862 until his death. He
stood out among his peers in the Beaufort political arena because of his connections to national
level Radical Republican politicians, which garnered him important federal appointments such as
Port Collector. His political career provides a unique window into the social, economic, and
political climate of Reconstruction and the post-Reconstruction era Beaufort town and Beaufort
County, as the Republican Party vied for local and state control against the Democratic Party
(populated by old guard politicians and former Confederates). Historian Arthur Gelston notes
that, “judging from the available records, Gage was one of the more substantial citizens in the
county. A self-made and self-righteous man who claimed to adhere to principles ‘higher than the
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law’ in his financial and political dealings, Gage was quick to deprecate his political allies as
well as his enemies”, including Robert Smalls who he once called “a South Carolina politician of
the worst sort.”® The Ohio-born Republican was able to alter and enlarge the Means-Gage house
during the economically volatile post-Reconstruction era in Beaufort through his various
business interests and political appointments.

Beaufort fell to Union forces in late 1861 and was occupied for the duration of the Civil War.
With Federal occupation, many rice and cotton planters left Beaufort and their property was
seized by the Union and occupied by newly freed slaves, military forces, government officials,
and northern missionaries and educators who came to work with the freed population. The
planters’ townhouses were similarly seized for back taxes and sold to incoming northerners.’
While other parts of South Carolina suffered widespread property damage during the war and
economic ruin, Beaufort entered a period of prosperity because of its early fall to the Union and a
subsequent influx of outside money and northern interests.® It is in this context that George
Gage, a “carpetbagger”, bought the Means-Gage house in 1872. He was the son of a well-known
abolitionist, Frances “Aunt Fanny” Gage, who moved with her daughter Mary to St. Helena
Island during the Union Occupation of Beaufort County, where they worked with famous Civil
War nurse and future head of the Red Cross, Clara Barton, and as teachers for the newly
emancipated freed people.® Although Mary and Frances Gage returned to the North after the
Civil War, George Gage remained in Beaufort for the rest of his life. He remained in contact
with Clara Barton and may have been instrumental in her returning to the Beaufort area provide
hurricane relief following the Sea Islands Storm of 1893, through the Red Cross. Gage referred
to Barton’s coastal work and the necessity of continued aid for the black population in a letter in
November 1893: “The colored people here are inferior to our white laborers in the north who
were born there. They are either freemen or their descendants. They are the best colored people
in the state. They cultivate as a rule, their own lands, work by the day week or month whenever
they can get work. Miss Barton seems to be getting a list of those who read and those who do not
and she’s doing as well as can be done in that way, for a map of the islands.”*°

George Gage had studied civil engineering and worked with Steubenville and Indiana Railroad
in the 1850s, before receiving an appointment during the Civil War under Secretary of War
Edwin McMaster Stanton, to assist in railroad construction for the movement of Union troops.
He arrived in Beaufort in 1862 to work as a surveyor and to fill an appointment as “special agent
in connection with work among the contrabands [former slaves].” During this time, Gage
became interested in the plight of freed people and decided to stay in South Carolina.!! Gage
married Sarah Marshall Ely (1834-1909), a New Jersey native whom he met in Beaufort during

® Gelston, “Radical versus Straight-out”, 229.

" Historic Beaufort National Register, 9; Gelston states in “Radical versus Straight-out” that, after Union occupation,
“the town itself was sold to freedmen and the few remaining whites for tax arrears. Those plantations not broken up
into smaller plots for black farmers were bought by Yankees looking to profit from Sea Island cotton, indigo, and
rice.” 226.

8 Rowland and Rogers, History of Beaufort County, Vol. 2, 491.

% Michals, Debra. “Clara Barton, 1821-1912”, National Women’s History Museum.
https://www.womenshistory.org/education-resources/biographies/clara-barton

10 George Gage papers, Box 2, letter to CK Hall, Washington DC, 14 November 1893.

11 Ely, “Ely, Revelle, and Stacey Family”, 374.
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the Civil War while she was teaching on St. Helena. Sarah was a founding member and secretary
of the Freemen’s and Home Relief Association of Lambertsville, chartered in 1864 to “afford
relief to the impoverished and distressed people known as the “Freedmen” of our land, as well as
to administer to the necessities of the needy in our immediate vicinity.”*2 The organization raised
money through concerts and other fundraisers, collected food and clothing, and visited families
on the Sea Islands around Beaufort to distribute their collected relief.!® Sarah also taught for the
Freedmen’s Bureau school in Beaufort from 1866 to 1867.

The Freedmen’s Bureau was a federally administered relief program whose overarching goal was
to aid newly freed slaves’ transition into life as free citizens, providing medical aid, food, and
education to the formerly enslaved, and had sub-offices to distribute land and assist freed people
with labor contracts. Historian Walter Edgar notes that, “although not state-run, the Freedmen’s
Bureau was disliked by white South Carolinians more than any other [Reconstruction era]
program.”'* The Bureau also created the Freedmen’s Bank, where Gage served on the Executive
Committee and the Advisory Committee of the Beaufort Branch from 1868 to 1873 engineer.'®
When the bank collapsed in 1873 due to high risk speculative loan and investment practices,
fraud and mismanagement, changes to the initial bank charter, and the larger effects of the
nationally catastrophic Panic of 1873, he briefly worked in the insurance industry, taking over
his father-in-law Henry Ely’s agency. 1

George Gage worked as the chief engineer to design and construct a new rail line into Beaufort
during the decade of economic growth following the Civil War. The line connected to the Port
Royal main line to link to phosphate mining operations on Chisolm Island, and important local
industry.}” He was also active in Beaufort social life at this time, and “led a group local residents
in the 1860s to found a social club, as our population was then made up largely of men from all
parts of the North and West.”!® Gage served as a county commissioner for the South Carolina
Free School Fund, was acting intendant and magistrate for Beaufort in 1875 and 1876, was the
branch trustee for the Southern Life Insurance Company, and continued work as a surveyor.®
During his time as intendent, he oversaw various civic activities and was involved in
infrastructural projects, including new drain installations in the business district in 1876. Gage
worked with the aldermen to select a contractor, and was heavily involved with managing the
project and seeing its completion when the project fell behind schedule.?

12 Journal of Sarah Gage, 1864-1866, pg. 41-42.

13 Journal of Sarah Gage, 1864-1866, pg. 11-14.

14 Edgar, South Carolina: A History, 396.

15 Davis, “Bankless in Beaufort”, 51.

16 “The Freedmen’s Savings and Trust Company,” Prologue,
https://www.archives.gov/publications/prologue/1997/summer/freedmans-savings-and-trust.html. Accessed 31
August 2019.

17 Rowland, History of Beaufort County Vol. 2, 502.

18 Harvey, Beaufort County Above Ground Resources Survey, Section 11, 29.

19 Beaufort Republican, 14 August 1873; Beaufort Crescent, 29 September 1875.; Gage Papers, Box 1, note from 14
June 1875.

20 George Gage Papers, Box 1, notation dated 19 January 1896.
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Gage was influential in Beaufort’s connection to the larger Atlantic world through shipping, as
Port Collector (1872-1880) and Deputy Collector and Inspector (1885-1886). He was first
appointed by President Ulysses S. Grant as customs collector in 1872, which was also the year he
purchased the Means-Gage house. The Collector job was, “an important position in the local
hierarchy of federal patronage.”?! The United States Customs Service was created in the early
federal era to regulate shipping and importation and to collect customs, tariffs, and other
applicable revenue on goods coming into the United States. Customs positions were highly
sought after and paid well, and were doled out on a “spoils system” based on favoritism, personal
and family connections, and political lobbying.?? The Customs or Port Collector positions in
South Carolina followed this trend, and were lucrative and highly sought after by politically
motivated individuals. The position carried a substantial $1000 annual salary in the 1870s.

As Port Collector, Gage was in regular communication with the Treasury Department in
Washington D.C. and oversaw all incoming shipments of goods into Beaufort County. As
Keeper of Lights, he was influential in appointing Beaufort County lighthouse keepers.? He also
received maritime officers at the Means-Gage House; for example, he received an unnamed
“Master of the Commodore” and a Captain A. Ward at his Bay Street home in September 1874.%
Gage served as Collector during a busy period in Lowcountry maritime commerce, when trade to
Beaufort District was increasing from forty-four foreign clearances from January to June 1875,
to thirty-nine clearances from January to March of 1876 alone.?® St. Helena, Port Royal, and
Beaufort were all under Gage’s purview as part of the Beaufort District. The Collector position
was complex in that it required a financial background, knowledge of state and federal shipping
statutes, and diligent record keeping, noting where all ships were disembarking from and what
cargo they were depositing in Beaufort. During Gage’s service, ships arrived in Beaufort from
Argentina, Great Britain, and from domestic ports, carrying cargo including phosphate fertilizer,
salt, flour, and preserved meats. Gage sent customs bills, balanced the port’s revenue, wrote
letters and corresponded with ship captains and the Treasury Department, and worked with local
and federal inspectors as part of his job.?

Appointment as Port Collector hinged heavily on political allegiances and personal relationships
in the Reconstruction era and into the later nineteenth century. The Republican Party had a
stronghold in Beaufort County in part because of the large population of “carpetbaggers”
migrating from the northern states to fill the political void left by the collapse of the Confederacy
and freed people, and the party in the 1860s and 1870s was more Radical than the rest of the
state. Most Beaufort Republicans were Radical in their support for their black compatriots and
were resistant to sharing political control with the pre-war ruling class. One of the main signifiers
of Radical Republican politics was support for African Americans in politics and as citizens.
Reconciliationist Republicans, on the other hand, were willing to work politically with former

2L Gelston, “Radical versus Straight-out”, 225.

22 National U.S. Customs Museum, “History”, http://customsmuseum.org/history/. Accessed 25 August 2019.

23 George Gage Papers, Box 1, letters from 16 and 17 July 1876 refer to lighthouse appointments.

24 George Gage Papers, Box 1, letter to Captain A. Ward, 4 September 1874.

% George Gage Papers, Box 1, letter to Treasurer, 27 March 1876.

2 The Gage Papers, Box 1, at Duke University include letters and bills sent by Gage to captains of various national
and internationally bound ships.
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Confederates and native southern white politicians, often to the detriment of their black
constituency. Gage identified as a Radical.?” Throughout his life, Gage was an advocate for
African Americans and supported fellow Republican politicians regardless of color, identifying
as a Radical.”®

Beaufort District enjoyed an integrated political climate in the Reconstruction era, which
continued even after the 1876 state elections and the reemergence of the Democratic party
political control under Governor Wade Hampton, in part because of the strong northern presence
in that section of the state. Historian Lawrence Rowland explained, “for another generation,
Beaufort County remained a Republican stronghold in politics, a Yankee colony in economic
terms, and with the US Naval Station at Port Royal, a permanent beachhead for the Federal
military establishment.” President Grant visited the town on Emancipation Day in 1880 to great
fanfare, arriving via the new Port Royal and Augusta railroad. The welcoming committee, was
representative of diverse Reconstruction era Beaufort population of blacks and whites, Union
and Confederate veterans, northern merchants and southern professionals, and included George
Gage, then-Customs collector George Holmes, merchants George Waterhouse and Moritz
Pollitzer, black postmaster Thomas Ezekiel Miller. ?°

Gage provides insight into the political and economic inner workings of Beaufort County and
state politics in the late nineteenth century, and he was an important if controversial member of
the Republican Party in Beaufort County. Perhaps because of his uncompromising ethics and
billing while Customs Collector, or due to the fact that he was from the northern states, or
because of the complexities of party politics in the late nineteenth century, Gage felt snubbed and
was sometimes excluded from social activities.*® Gage regularly corresponded with Thomas
Ezekiel Miller (a South Carolina born African American state legislator, lawyer, state Supreme
Court justice, educator, and occasional rival of Gage), various Secretaries of the Treasury in his
role as Port Collector, and with Robert Smalls, a famous African American politician born into
slavery in Charleston who worked as a sailmaker and rigger and who stole the Confederate sloop
the Planter during the Civil War and delivered it over the Charleston bar to Union forces and
escaped to freedom.®! Gage was periodically allied with or fighting against Miller, Smalls, and
William J. Whipper for political appointments such as the Port Collector position. Whipper, a
circuit judge and lawyer prior to being arrested for fraud, used his paper, the Beaufort Tribune, to
attack Smalls’ and other rivals’ politics.3?

Gage was reappointed as Customs Collector in 1876, when the Beaufort Crescent reported, “A
faithful steward. The president has reappointed, and the Senate last week confirmed, George
Gage as collector of customs for Beaufort and Port Royal, his commission having expired this
month, after four years of service. This appointment is a tribute to an honest and faithful officer

27 Gelston, “Radical versus Straight-out”, 225, 229-230.

28 Gage Papers, Box 2, letter to Thomas E Miller, 17 December 1888.
2 Rowland and Rogers, History of Beaufort County, Vol. 2, 490-491.
30 Gage Papers, Box 1, letter to Beardale, 20 July 1894.

31 Gelston, “Radical versus Straight-out”, 228.

32 Gelston, “Radical versus Straight-out”, 229.
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who has ever been found correct in his conduct of the trust placed in his charged. In these days of
crooked whisky and revenue frauds the Government learns how to value men of integrity . . . we
find man who is no “party” man again appointed to a position for which he is not found
necessary by being able to manage the caucus, but by being able to do his duty. We learn upon
inquiry that during the past four years Mr. Gage has collected for customs $167,107, one sixth as
much as in Charleston and one fifteenth of that in Savannah. Mr. Gage has been inspector or
collector of this port since 1862 and there is yet to be found the first error in his accounts. This is
a record of which he can justly be proud.”

Following the end of Reconstruction in South Carolina in 1876, the “Straight-out” Democrats,
who desired to marginalize African Americans and disenfranchise them, began to take control of
state politics. Although they were less successful in Beaufort than other parts of the state, they
continued to work to undermine Republican political control. For example, in 1882 the Straight-
outs sought to eliminate Radical votes with the “passage of a new registration and election law in
1882, so complex that illiterate blacks were easily misinformed as to its requirements. . . the
“eight box law” which in its final form required (black) voters to place their ballots unassisted
into the box with one of eight particular officer inscribed on the top. George Gage wrote that the
elections, “where voters cannot read, are a farce, and when you come to add ballot box stuffing,
it is a farce and a crime combined.””** Gage was troubled by unethical political practices and
attempts to disenfranchise Beaufort citizens. He wrote to J.L. Taylor (a congressman) in Ohio in
1888 that Robert Smalls had to withdraw his candidacy for sheriff as “‘it was evident that he was
in a very hopeless minority. . . . there was a great deal of good about him. The US Gov. should
say to the south ‘where you disenfranchise a man who cannot read, you shall not count him in
filling your basis for congressional representation.”®

The following year Gage spoke to Taylor of the devolving political situation in the state for the
Republican party: “You have most likely received a copy of the Address of Chairman Brayton
on the election outrages in this state, what he says is true, but I fear it will not be understood by
honest men at the north who know nothing of the matter to serve as a key to guide their thoughts
while reading. This last election Mr. Howe was sent there to look at the democratic interests (he
is Elliott’s law partner) | went off to look out for the Republican interests- the result was that
there was no row (there was one Dem Negro half drunk and several Dem Negroes distributing
tickets who were anxious to argue the question.) I had more trouble trying to manage them, than
I did all of the republicans.”>®

While running for federal reappointment as port collector, George Gage circulated petitions to
garner support for businessmen, local and state politicians with Washington connections, and he
even solicited Clara Barton, whom he corresponded with throughout the 1870s and 1880s to ask

33 Beaufort Crescent, 16 February 1876.

34 Gelston, “Radical versus Straight-out”, 232; Gage Papers, Gage to Taylor, 10 November 1888.
35 Gage Papers, Box 2, letter to JL Taylor, 10 November 1888.

36 Gage Papers, Box 2, letter to JL Taylor, 24 January 1889.
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for her assistance in helping him secure political appointments in the Beaufort area.®” Gage was
also influential in renewing Barton’s interest in service and social work in the Beaufort area.®

In 1884 Gage corresponded with Sara A. Richardson, wife of Treasurer Charles Richardson,
about Col. Paul Hamilton’s petition for the collectorship, offering insight into the complexities of
landing federal appointments; “Col Paul Hamilton who | have known for many years and who |
respect very much, asked me to sign his petition for the collectorship but I could not sign it.
Republicans will hardly sign a petition for the removal of a republican to make room for a
democrat. As the salary for the collectorship is over $1000 a year the senators from this state will
control the appointment even with all petitions.”3® White Radicalism by this period was in
decline and the Washington Bee reported, “Thomas Miller is in trouble if he quarrels with
Smalls, especially since he wants to put a white Republican (George Gage) in Smalls’ place after
Smalls threw himself into the breach to get Miller elected as the next Negro congressman in the
state”.* Reconciliationist Republicans began tacitly accepting or ever advocating in Congress to
disenfranchise black voters. Gage was upset by this, especially because he had lost his Customs
collector position in the 1870s when fellow Radicals forced him to step down for appointing a
Democrat as lighthouse keeper.*! Despite political tensions, Gage managed to secure an
appointment as Deputy Collector and Inspector in 1885.

In 1888, Gage and Smalls were vying against one another for the Customs Collector appointment
as H.W. Richardson’s appointment was set to expire the following year. The Charleston News
and Courier reported: “politics in Beaufort. The Bread and Butter Brigade rallying for an attack
on the office. The angry Republicans cannot wait any longer and a number of them have gotten
up petitions to send to the president elect for appointments. Among them are ex-congressman
Bob Smalls and George Gage for collector of customs. Mr. Gage was at one time collector of
customs and therefore thinks he can make an impression on the new administration.”*? Gage
circulated a support petition (hoping for the support of C. Waterhouse, Thomas J. Reynolds,
Samuel Green, D.C. Wilson, and W.H. Calvert; several of whom endorsed Robert Smalls when
he announced his interest) and sent dozens of letters in 1888 and 1889 soliciting support. Gage
compiled a dossier of incriminating evidence of Small’s ineptitude for the post, which he mailed
to Clara Barton to share with her contacts in Washington, to strengthen his chances of gaining
the appointment.*® On Congressmen Taylor’s suggestion, he asked Barton to speak on his behalf
to the Secretary of the Treasury in Washington, D.C. to help his chances for the collectorship.*t

37 Gage, George. Clara Barton Papers: General Correspondence, -1912; Gage, George, 1878 to 1889. 1878.
Manuscript/Mixed Material. https://www.loc.gov/item/mss119730262/. George Gage to Clara Barton, 8 December
1878.

38 Ibid, George Gage to Barton, 26 April 1889.

39 George Gage papers, Box 2, letter to Sara Richardson, 30 December 1884.

40 Gelston, “Radical versus Straight-out”, 231.

4l Gelston, “Radical versus Straight-out”, 233; Gage papers, letter dated 15 February 1885.

42 News and Courier, 2 March 1889.

3 Gelston, “Radical versus Straight-out”, 233; Gage Papers, Box 2, letter to Clara Barton, 5 May 1889.
4 George Gage papers, Box 2, letter to Clara Barton, 30 April 1889.
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Gage intimated in a letter to a North Carolina friend that, “‘there are five so called Republicans
who want to be collector of Customs for this district. Robert Smalls is one of them, | am another.
Smalls has no qualifications, that fit him for the place, while he has several ‘points of character’
that wholly unfit him for the place. The best men of our section feel that it would be a serious
calamity to have him made the collector. He was elected to congress two years ago, but counted
out by fraud and perjury . . . and now poses as a martyr and ask the Republican congressmen to
help him to get the collectorship. He is ignorant, and politically dishonest as any man | ever
knew.”* Gage then asked for Charles Richardson’s support in Washington D.C.*¢ Gage claimed
that Smalls had slandered him as a ”’Negro Hater,” bringing up Gage’s appointment of
Democrats as lighthouse keepers a decade prior, and claiming that Gage had said $10.00 month
wages was enough for “a Negro”, which Gage stated was “willfully and maliciously false.”*’
Smalls ultimately received the Collector position, and Gage continued working as a surveyor and
at his mill. Later in 1889, Smalls agreed to support Gage for an agent position with the treasury
department, in exchange for Gage instructing Smalls’ assistant Guffin in the “affairs of the

Customs House”.*8

In 1890-91, Gage vied for a Postmaster General appointment, this time with Robert Smalls’
support, as the two men had apparently reconciled after their Collector appointment standoff.
Smalls stated that Gage had the endorsement of all the leading business men in Beaufort,
although the appointment became complicated and politicized (like many others in post-
Reconstruction era Beaufort.)*® Gage summarized a decade of frustration to his sister, Mary
Gage: “I was Collector of customs for seven years, when [ was removed for political 